(Extract from the newspaper report) of Saturday, August 25th 1888.

FUNERAL OF MR. HARDY, OF DANEHURST.


'The obsequies of Herbert Carey Hardy, Esq., of Danehurst, were celebrated on Saturday, when the funeral service was held at Danehill Church, and the internment took place at the cemetery thereto, amidst general demonstration of respect and sorrow.
The circumstances under which the esteemed and lamented squire of Danehurst met with the accident which brought to an abrupt termination of a most useful and honourable life have already been noticed in these columns, and, therefore, there are very few details connected with the melancholy event calling for further comment. The accident, it appears, was caused by tripping over a dog chain when Mr. Hardy was about to alight from a trap, in which he had been driving with his son, and the fracture of the leg consequent upon the fall was so severe that amputation had to be resorted to. This was successfully performed but the sufferer did not rally, and expired, surrounded by his wife and family, on Saturday evening, the 11th of August, within six hours of the completion of the 40th year of his age, he having been born on August 12th 1848. Thus, in a few short hours, was the house at Kinveachy, in the county of Inverness, where Mr. Hardy had extensive shootings, converted into a place of mourning, 
where just previously all had been bustle and preparation for the birthday of the squire, and the reception of friends who were coming down for the opening of the shooting season. Mr. Hardy leaves a widow - the daughter of Mr. Knight of Chawton House, near Alton, Hants, where the family have been seated for centuries -and a family of eight children, all of which are of tender years.

The body, enclosed in a coffin of polished oak, with massive Gothic furniture, and breast-plate, simply recording the name of the deceased gentleman, and the dates of his birth and death, arrived by train at Sheffield Park station at two o'clock on Friday, it having been brought by railway from Boat of Garten station, Inverness. A hearse was in waiting to receive the coffin, which, on reaching Danehurst, was placed on a bier in the library, which had been transformed into a “chapelle ardente”. The end and each side of the room were banked with majestic ferns and fine foliaged plants in pot, relieved by choice exotic flowers. The coffin and its supports were completely covered with splendid wreaths and crosses of flowers, numbering nearly a hundred, and sent from all parts of the country. At the head of the coffin was placed a crucifix of alabaster and candelabra of seven lights, the candles of which were kept burning throughout the night. Contributions of plants and flowers were kindly sent from the hothouses and conservatories of the Earl of Sheffield, at Sheffield Park; Sir Spencer Maryon Wilson, of Searles; Mr. Wormald, of Red House; and Mr. Chatterton of Birch Grove. The funeral took place shortly after noon on Saturday, the arrangements being of a very simple and unostentatious character. The coffin, which was almost concealed by the wealth of flowers placed upon it, was born on a hand-bier and work-men employed on the estate, all of whom wore white gabardines, or, as they are better known in Sussex “'smock-frocks”. All of the relatives, personal friends, tenants, servants and cottagers walked on foot, except the ladies of the family, who went to church in private carriages. The procession was a very long one, and its progress was watched with melancholy interest by the people who had assembled in the neighbourhood of the church.

Those who took part in the funeral procession from the house were-

Mrs. H.C. Hardy, Master Guy Hardy (eldest son) Mr. Charles Hardy of Chilham Castle, Kent (brother). Miss Adela Hardy (eldest daughter) and the head nurse, Mrs. Jessop.

Mr. and Mrs. Montague Knight, Major and Mrs. Rice. Mr. and Mrs. Worsley, Sir Edward and Lady Bradford. Major Henry Knight and Captain Brodnax Knight, Mr. Arthur Smith. Mr. Montague Bradford. Viscount Cranbrook (Lord President of the Council) and the Hon. J. Stewart Gathorne‑ Hardy, M. P. Mr. Lawrence Hardy and Mr. Evelyn Bradford. Mr. Spencer Portal; the Misses Carey Borrer. Mr. Fryer (house steward) and Mrs. Harnett (house-keeper). The Household Servants at Danehurst. Mr. Coombe (farm steward), Mrs. Coombs and family. The Tenants:- Messrs. T. Knight (Cockhainse) Comber (Cockhaise Mill) D. Bates (Latchetts) Wood (Woodsland) Osborne (Town Place) W. Wood (Danehill) Wickens (Tremaines) S. Cherryman (Oak) S. Baker (Portmansford) Luckens (Butcher's Barn) & &.

The mournful cortege was met at the churchyard gates by the following clergy, who wore the white surplices of their holy office:- The Rev. Prebendary Carey Borrer (treasurer of the diocese of Chichester and rector of Hurstpierpoint) the Rev. F.R. Hepburn (rector of Chailey and rural dean) the Rev. W. F. Attenborough (vicar of Fletching) the Rev. W. Summers (vicar of Danehill) the Rev. H.J. Peckham (incumbent of Nutley) and the Rev. F. Willett (Scaynes Hill).

Among the numerous assembly who awaited the arrival of the body at the church we observed'

(here follows a long list of local dignitaries, representatives of local societies and people from Danehill and neighbouring villages).

.............. It is estimated that the attendance of all classes exceeded a thousand persons.

(There follows a description of the service which was taken by the Rev. Summers, the lesson read by the rector of Chailey and the service at the grave-side by the Rev. Prebendary Carey Borrer) .

'The floral contributions of loving relatives and friends, and from the public bodies, were indeed very beautiful and numerous.   Included among them were offerings from the Conservative Association of Danehill, Lewes, Uckfield, East Grinstead and Haywards Heath: From the committee of Danehill Horticultural Society, the Horsted Keynes Cricket Club, the cottagers of Danehill, the tenants and the school children'. 

.. . . . . . . Masters Herbert and Gerald Summers sent a wreath “With love to their dear god-fatherl”.

Mr. Coombs (the bailiff of Danehurst) Mrs. Cunnington (the late keeper's widow) the household servants, the coachman, Mr. Stevens and his wife, the keepers and gardeners of Danehurst, and many other humble friends who have lost a kind considerate master, and a generous thoughtful friend.

(Extract from newspaper of All Saints Day, November Ist 1891)

THE NEW CHURCH AT DANEHILL.

The Foundation Stone laid by Mr. Guy Charles Hardy.

'A memorable stage in the building of the beautiful new church at Danehill was reached on Saturday last, when the dedication stone was laid by Mr. Guy Charles Hardy, the eldest son of the lady who erects this church in pious memory of her husband, the late Herbert Carey Hardy, Esq., of Danehurst. The stone was laid in the presence of the venerable Lord Bishop of Chichester, the Archdeacon of Lewes, and the clergy of the district, and among the large congregation at the service attending the ceremony were Mrs. Hardy and her charming family of nine children, the youngest of which was born shortly after the lamented death, from accident, of her father, whose loss plunged a wide district in sorrow. Also present were Mr. Charles Stewart Hardy of Chilham Castle, Kent, brother to the gentleman to whose memory the church is building; and the churchwardens, Mr. Edward Wormald of Chelwood Beacon, and Mr. Thomas Chatfield, and other leading residents of the parish 

(Description of the district of Danehill and of the service of dedication follows)

The 84th Psalm having been sung, followed by prayer, Mr. Edward Wormald, on behalf of the parish, presented to Mr. Guy Hardy a handsome silver trowel with an ivory handle . . . . . . . In a receptacle beneath the foundation stone was placed, with other mementos, a parchment document, recording that the church was built "to the glory of God, and in memory of Herbert Carey Hardy".

Mr. Guy Hardy having, with the assistance of the builder duly laid the stone, said, in a firm, clear voice,

“In the faith of Jesus Christ we place this foundation stone, in the name of God the Father, God the Son, and God the Holy Ghost.”

(Extract of Newspaper report)

CONSECRATION OF THE NEW MEMORIAL CHURCH AT DANEHILL.

(12th of August 1892)

The Ceremony of Consecration.

'The consecration service was fixed for eleven o'clock in the morning, but before that hour the church was crowded with a very fashionable congregation; indeed it seemed that all classes for miles around must have made a special effort to be present to witness the dedication of the beautiful structure to God's holy worship. The seating capacity was tested to the utmost; chairs had to be placed in the aisles and many there had to content themselves with standing room. The, service took the usual form of prayer and ceremonies used at the consecration of churches throughout the diocese. Shortly after eleven o'clock the Bishop of Chichester was met at the door by the clergy and choir, and as the procession moved towards the chancel the “Praise ye Lord ye heavens adore Him” was sung by the surpliced choir (under the conductorship of Mr. Harris) which was augmented for the occasion by choristers from adjoining parishes. The venerable Bishop was attended by the Rev. Treasurer Borrer, rector of Hurstpierpoint, who carried the pastoral staff, and Mr. E.C. Currey of Lewes, who acted as chancellor in the several legal duties of the ceremony. Included in the procession were Mr. E. Worrnald and Mr. T. Chatfield, the churchwarden and the following clergy' (a long list of clergy follows including the Rev. Walter Summers, vicar of Danehill) . . . . . . . . Mr. Austin Leigh presided at the organ. . . . . a collection was made in aid of the fund for providing a peal of bells for the Church. 

At the end of the Communion Service, the sermon was preached by the Bishop who selected for his text a part of the 22nd verse of the 21st chapter of the book of the Revelation of St. John “I saw the temple therein” . . . . . . . . . . .

“The Chancellor afterwards read the sentence of consecration, which was signed by the Bishop, who concluded the service by pronouncing the blessing”.

“The Bishop and clergy and a large number of the local ladies and gentlemen were in the afternoon entertained at luncheon by Mrs. Hardy, in a marquee on the lawn at Dane​hurst. The proceedings were quite of a social character. and no toasts were proposed. In another marquee the chur​ch choir, and other officials and friends were entertained, after which a game of cricket was indulged in. The workmen who had been employed in the building of the church were not forgotten, and in the evening they sat down to a bountiful repast and spent a very pleasant time”.

-------------------------------------------------------------------------

The above extracts are taken from newspaper cuttings which belonged to Mr. Horace Chatfield, late of Portmansf ord Farm, Furner's Green. Mr. Chatfield was a churchwarden between 1907-11 and 1918-1940 and greatly loved and respected in Danehill Parish. He died on January 1st 1941 aged 81 years. Horace Chatfield was christened at the "Holy Trinity" Chapel, Danehill on July the 11th 1859. He was a son of Hannah and Thomas Chatfield, Farmer of Sliders Farm (who at the christening of another child eight years previously is described as 'Wheelwright, Furner’s Green).

Thomas Chatfield died at the age of 80 at "Penfold Cottage" and was buried in "All Saints" churchyard on the 29th July 1904. He had been the Parish Churchwarden for thirty years.

The newspaper cuttings were given to the Society by his grandson Mr. G. Chatfield of Lewes.

